
Democratic Services Contact Officer: Ian Senior 03450 450 500 democratic.services@scambs.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

28 August 2015 
 
To: Councillor Robert Turner, Portfolio Holder 
 
 Henry Batchelor Opposition Spokesman 
 Kevin Cuffley Scrutiny and Overview Committee 

Monitor 
 Aidan Van de Weyer Opposition Spokesman 
 
Dear Sir / Madam 
 
You are invited to attend the next meeting of PLANNING PORTFOLIO HOLDER'S MEETING, 
which will be held in MONKFIELD ROOM, FIRST FLOOR at South Cambridgeshire Hall on 
TUESDAY, 8 SEPTEMBER 2015 at 10.00 a.m. 
 
Yours faithfully 
JEAN HUNTER 
Chief Executive 
 
Requests for a large print agenda must be received at least 48 hours before the meeting. 
 

 
AGENDA 

PAGES 
 PROCEDURAL ITEMS   
 
1. Declarations of Interest    
 
2. Minutes of Previous meeting   1 - 6 
 The Planning Portfolio Holder is asked to sign the Minutes of the meeting 

held on 10 August 2015 as a correct record. 
 

   
 DECISION ITEMS   
 
3. Implications of the Withdrawal of the Code for Sustainable Homes 

on the Fen Drayton Former Land Settlement Association Estate  
 7 - 32 

 
4. Consultation on Draft Amendments to the Delegated Powers and 

Functions for Planning Decisions  
 33 - 38 

 
5. Development Management Implications of the Lack of a Five Year 

Supply of Housing Land in South Cambridgeshire (Key) 
 39 - 42 

 
 STANDING ITEMS   
 
6. Work Programme   43 - 44 
 
7. Date of Next Meeting    
 To be confirmed  

 South Cambridgeshire Hall 
Cambourne Business Park 
Cambourne 
Cambridge 
CB23 6EA 
t: 03450 450 500 
f: 01954 713149 
dx: DX 729500 Cambridge 15 
minicom: 01480 376743 
www.scambs.gov.uk 



   
 

OUR LONG-TERM VISION 
 
South Cambridgeshire will continue to be the best place to live, work and study in the country. 
Our district will demonstrate impressive and sustainable economic growth. Our residents will 
have a superb quality of life in an exceptionally beautiful, rural and green environment. 
 
 

OUR VALUES 
 

We will demonstrate our corporate values in all our actions. These are: 
• Working Together 
• Integrity 
• Dynamism 
• Innovation 
  



 GUIDANCE NOTES FOR VISITORS TO SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE HALL 
 Notes to help those people visiting the South Cambridgeshire District Council offices  
While we try to make sure that you stay safe when visiting South Cambridgeshire Hall, you also have a 
responsibility for your own safety, and that of others. 
 
Security 
When attending meetings in non-public areas of the Council offices you must report to Reception, sign in, 
and at all times wear the Visitor badge issued.  Before leaving the building, please sign out and return the 
Visitor badge to Reception. 
Public seating in meeting rooms is limited. For further details contact Democratic Services on 03450 450 
500 or e-mail democratic.services@scambs.gov.uk 
 
Emergency and Evacuation 
In the event of a fire, a continuous alarm will sound.  Leave the building using the nearest escape route; 
from the Council Chamber or Mezzanine viewing gallery this would be via the staircase just outside the 
door.  Go to the assembly point at the far side of the staff car park opposite the staff  entrance 

• Do not use the lifts to leave the building.  If you are unable to use stairs by yourself, the 
emergency staircase landings have fire refuge areas, which give protection for a minimum of 1.5 
hours.  Press the alarm button and wait for help from Council fire wardens or the fire brigade. 

• Do not re-enter the building until the officer in charge or the fire brigade confirms that it is safe to 
do so. 

 
First Aid 
If you feel unwell or need first aid, please alert a member of staff. 
 
Access for People with Disabilities 
We are committed to improving, for all members of the community, access to our agendas and minutes. 
We try to take all circumstances into account but, if you have any specific needs, please let us know, and 
we will do what we can to help you.  All meeting rooms are accessible to wheelchair users.  There are 
disabled toilet facilities on each floor of the building.  Infra-red hearing assistance systems are available in 
the Council Chamber and viewing gallery. To use these, you must sit in sight of the infra-red transmitter 
and wear a ‘neck loop’, which can be used with a hearing aid switched to the ‘T’ position.  If your hearing 
aid does not have the ‘T’ position facility then earphones are also available and can be used 
independently. You can get both neck loops and earphones from Reception. 
 
Toilets 
Public toilets are available on each floor of the building next to the lifts. 
 
Recording of Business and Use of Mobile Phones 
We are open and transparent about how we make decisions. We allow recording, filming and photography 
at Council, Cabinet and other meetings, which members of the public can attend, so long as proceedings 
at the meeting are not disrupted.  We also allow the use of social media during meetings to bring Council 
issues to the attention of a wider audience.  To minimise disturbance to others attending the meeting, 
please switch your phone or other mobile device to silent / vibrate mode. 
 
Banners, Placards and similar items 
You are not allowed to bring into, or display at, any public meeting any banner, placard, poster or other 
similar item.  Failure to do so, will result in the Chairman suspending the meeting until such items are 
removed. 
 
Disturbance by Public 
If a member of the public interrupts proceedings at a meeting, the Chairman will warn the person 
concerned.  If they continue to interrupt, the Chairman will order their removal from the meeting room.  If 
there is a general disturbance in any part of the meeting room open to the public, the Chairman may call 
for that part to be cleared. The meeting will be suspended until order has been restored. 
 
Smoking 
Since 1 July 2008, South Cambridgeshire District Council has operated a Smoke Free Policy. No one is 
allowed to smoke at any time within the Council offices, or in the car park or other grounds forming part of 
those offices. 
 
Food and Drink 
Vending machines and a water dispenser are available on the ground floor near the lifts at the front of the 
building.  You are not allowed to bring food or drink into the meeting room. 
 



   



SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the Planning Portfolio Holder's Meeting held on 
Monday, 10 August 2015 at 10.00 a.m. 

 
Portfolio Holder: Robert Turner 
 
Councillors in attendance: 
Scrutiny and Overview Committee monitors: 
 

Kevin Cuffley 
 

Also in attendance: David Bard, Anna Bradnam, Lynda Harford, 
James Hockney, Peter Johnson and 
Tim Wotherspoon 

 
Officers: 
Caroline Hunt Planning Policy Manager 
Jo Mills Planning and New Communities Director 
Trovine Monteiro Consultancy Unit - Team Leader 
Tony Pierce Interim Development Control Manager 
Ian Senior Democratic Services Officer 
Alison Talkington Senior Planning Policy Officer 
 
1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
 There were no declarations of interest. 
  
2. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 
 
 The Planning Portfolio Holder signed, as a correct record, the Minutes of the meeting held 

on 9 July 2015.  
  
3. NEIGHBOURHOOD PLANS: WATERBEACH AREA DESIGNATION 
 
 The Planning Portfolio Holder considered a report relating to Waterbeach Parish Council’s 

request to designate the parish of Waterbeach as a Neighbourhood Area, and agree to an 
addendum to the Local Development Scheme regarding neighbourhood planning.  
 
The Senior Planning Policy Officer highlighted the basis for the application, set out in 
paragraphs 16 to 19 of the report, and referred to the nature of consultation responses 
received by the end of the revised consultation period. Out of the 107 responses, only five 
had been objections, and these were summarised in paragraphs 27 to 29. The Senior 
Planning Policy Officer referred the Portfolio Holder to paragraph 15, which compared the 
Waterbeach application with similar applications elsewhere in the country where strategic 
sites were factors. Paragraph 32 set out the key points for consideration by South 
Cambridgeshire District Council. While the Parish Council would be preparing its 
neighbourhood plan, there would be a number of strategic factors and projects affecting 
Waterbeach and the surrounding area. The Council had eight weeks to decide the 
application. The report contained two options – one to designate the whole parish, set out 
in paragraph 34 and recommended by officers for approval by the Portfolio Holder, and 
the other favoured by the promoters of the proposed New Town at Waterbeach, which 
sought to exclude that strategic site from the Neighbourhood Area (paragraph 35).  The 
preferred option would be subject to the Parish Council and District Council agreeing roles 
and working arrangements by 21 August 2015. 
 
The Planning Portfolio Holder thanked the Senior Planning Policy Officer and her 

Agenda Item 2

Page 1



Planning Portfolio Holder's Meeting Monday, 10 August 2015 

colleagues for preparing such a comprehensive report, and then introduced the public 
speakers. 
 
Parish Councillor Brian Williams said that Waterbeach Parish Council was keen to be 
involved with the Local Plan and Neighbourhood Plan. He was concerned by the 
suspension of the draft Local Plan and by the resultant danger of speculative 
development. Far from wanting to stop strategic development of the New Town, 
Waterbeach Parish Council simply wanted to secure the best outcome for the existing 
community by working alongside South Cambridgeshire District Council and other 
stakeholders.  
 
Parish Councillor Kate Grant emphasised the importance of local knowledge. She said 
that infrastructure must be put in place before any strategic development started. 
Councillor Grant summarised the current drainage arrangements in Waterbeach, which 
were unsatisfactory in terms of the current population, and certainly needed to be 
addressed prior to any large scale development taking place. Referring to Waterbeach 
village as a rural community, she highlighted the importance of any future strategic 
development including an appropriate amount of green, open space. Waterbeach was 
currently a “balanced community” and recognised the importance of its direct rail link with 
London. However, strategic development must not be allowed to upset that balance by 
turning the community into a “commuter town.” While balance was important for the local 
economy, the Parish Council recognised the need to embrace development. However, the 
status of the A10 was an ongoing concern. Councillor Grant concluded by saying that the 
Parish Council wanted to be constructive, and to lead the community in working alongside 
South Cambridgeshire District Council. 
 
Jane Williams  said that Waterbeach would be setting the standard for the entire district 
of South Cambridgeshire. The City Deal and Affordable Housing were of prime 
importance. The Parish Council wanted to see any strategic development remain 
sympathetic to Waterbeach’s setting as a Fenland community. 
 
Parish Councillor Alice Grant highlighted the fact that the originally-proposed green 
separation between Waterbeach village and the New Town had been subjected to 
speculative development already.  
 
Councillor Peter Johnson (Parish Councillor and a local District Councillor) supported 
the Parish Council’s application that the entire parish be designated as a Neighbourhood 
Area. Flooding was a key issue to be addressed. He feared urban sprawl unless the entire 
parish was designated as a Neighbourhood Area. 
 
Councillor James Hockney (a local District Councillor) also favoured designating the 
entire parish as a Neighbourhood Area. He agreed that flooding was a key concern. While 
acknowledging that the green separation between the village and the proposed New Town 
had been lost, he welcomed the Neighbourhood Plan as an opportunity for “joined up 
government.” He saw it as offering a better future for Waterbeach. 
 
The Planning Portfolio Holder then invited comments from other Members present. 
 
Councillor Lynda Harford said it was disingenuous of developers to want the strategic site 
excluded from the Neighbourhood Area when it was developers who had compromised 
the green separation that had been proposed as a buffer between the village and 
proposed New Town. She expressed concern that the developers might be able to 
challenge the Neighbourhood Area designation if it were to cover the entire parish. In 
reply, the Planning and New Communities Director said this was unlikely. The national 
guidance stated that it was the local planning authority that had the responsibility to 

Page 2



Planning Portfolio Holder's Meeting Monday, 10 August 2015 

designate a neighbourhood area, and there was no mention of a formal process for third 
parties to have the opportunity to challenge a designation. Any challenge would be by 
Judicial Review of the Council’s decision. 
 
Councillor Anna Bradnam favoured designating the entire parish, saying the 
Neighbourhood Plan would be more successful if all parties worked together.  
 
The Planning Portfolio Holder welcomed the level of support, and thanked Waterbeach 
Parish Council for engaging positively in the process. He was very happy to include the 
entire parish in the Neighbourhood Area designation. The Portfolio Holder conveyed his 
best wishes to Waterbeach Parish Council, and said he was willing to attend their 
meetings and give advice and support if required and where possible. 
 
The Planning Portfolio Holder 
 

1. Approved the designation of a Neighbourhood Area for Waterbeach that 
included the whole parish with South Cambridgeshire District Council and 
Waterbeach Parish Councils agreeing a framework, by 21 August 2015, as to how 
they would work together; 
 

2. Noted that the Parish Council had expressed its willingness to work with 
all the parties involved in the future planning of Waterbeach; and 
 

3. Approved an addendum to the South Cambridgeshire Local Development 
Scheme listing the Neighbourhood Areas that had been designated and which 
indicated where Neighbourhood Plans were being prepared by Parish Councils 
(Appendix D to the report). 

  
4. REVIEW OF CONSULTANCY TEAM 
 
  The Planning Portfolio Holder considered a report updating him on progress following the 

introduction, in April 2014, of the new Consultancy team, a new vision and ways of 
working. The report also set out the direction and priorities of the team for 2015-16, which 
would be incorporated into a team plan.    
 
The Interim Development Control Manager highlighted the very significant reduction in the 
number of complaints received during the last six months.  
 
The Team Leader, Consultancy Unit was confident that, during the forthcoming year, the 
team would have sufficient capacity to cope with demands such as Northstowe Phases 1 
and 2, Neighbourhood Planning, Five-year land supply, the Tithe Barn in Landbeach and 
the Tannery in Sawston.  
 
The Portfolio Holder welcomed evidence of good engagement with Members and local 
residents. Councillor Kevin Cuffley agreed that good liaison was crucial.  
 
Councillor David Bard said that capacity must be assessed not just in terms of speculative 
development but also in the context of the Local Development Framework and the draft 
Local Plan.  
 
Councillor Lynda Harford was disappointed that the report was framed largely in general 
terms, saying specific figures would have been helpful. While she understood the rationale 
behind becoming more commercial and earning money for the Council, she urged officers 
not to overlook the demands made by minor developments. The Team Leader, 
Consultancy Unit said that Minor developments of fewer than ten dwellings were dealt with 

Page 3



Planning Portfolio Holder's Meeting Monday, 10 August 2015 

by Planning Case Officers. Measures were in place to provide training for Case Officers, 
and Consultancy Team members would continue to provide advice where required. The 
team also provided weekly surgeries to provide verbal advice of minor applications. 
 
The Planning Portfolio Holder said that he would be willing to get involved, if required. 
 
The Planning Portfolio Holder  
 

1. noted the progress made by the Consultancy team;  
 

2. endorsed the outcomes and recommendations in paragraph 7 of the report to be 
taken forward in the Team Plan; and 

 
3. endorsed the new team vision, as set out in paragraph 22. 

  
5. PERFORMANCE 2014/15 AND PROGRESS IN SERVICE IMPROVEMENTS 
 
  The Planning Portfolio Holder received and noted a report updating him about a number 

of service issues and progress concerning planning and building control performance and 
the delegation of planning decisions to officers. 
 
The Interim Development Control Manager announced that, with effect from 10 August 
2015, an updated duty officer scheme had been introduced.  Appointments would be 
made for meetings and telephone conversations with the duty officer, and straightforward 
queries would be answered by the contact centre and technical support officers. The first 
15 minutes would continue to be free.  
 
The Portfolio Holder reminded officers that Members possessed a substantial amount of 
local knowledge, and should not be reluctant to take advantage of that fact.  
 
Councillor Anna Bradnam urged caution about the planning process becoming paperless, 
not least where computer networks fail. Following discussion, the Portfolio Holder 
accepted that the emphasis should be on moving towards a paperless planning service, 
and that South Cambridgeshire District Council should adopt a flexible approach to 
achieving best practice in meeting the expectations of customers. 
 
Referring to paragraph 14 of the report, the Portfolio Holder was anxious that the morale 
of current members of staff should not be affected adversely by measures included in 
recruitment campaigns. The Planning and New Communities Director said that the Council 
operates within its adopted policies, and takes care to treat all staff fairly. It is hoped that 
the Council’s recent achievement of Gold Investors in People status should assist the 
recruitment process and also the continued personal development of Council employees. 
The Portfolio Holder said that there must be total transparency, including in recruitment 
and retention matters, when moving towards a planning shared service.  
 
Referring to planning decision delegations (paragraph 18), the Interim Development 
Control Manager said that a detailed report would be presented to the Planning Portfolio 
Holder meeting on 8 September 2015. Consultation with the public and Parish Councils 
would take place during September and October, and with the Planning Committee on 4 
November. 

  
6. WORK PROGRAMME 
 
 The Planning Portfolio Holder received and noted the Work Programme attached to the 

agenda. 

Page 4



Planning Portfolio Holder's Meeting Monday, 10 August 2015 

  
7. DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
 
 The next Planning Portfolio Holder meeting had been scheduled for Tuesday 8 September 

2015, starting at 10.00am. 
  
  

The Meeting ended at 11.25 a.m. 
 

 

Page 5



Page 6

This page is left blank intentionally.



 

 

 

 

 

 
 
  
Report To: Planning Portfolio Holder 8 September 2015 
Lead Officer: Director of Planning & New Communities 

 
 

 
Implications of the Withdrawal of the Code for Sustainable Homes on the Fen Drayton 

Former Land Settlement Association Estate 
 

Purpose 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to seek approval for the ‘Fen Drayton Former Land 

Settlement Association Estate – Implications of the Withdrawal of the Code for 
Sustainable Homes’ document to be applied as Council Policy and be used as a 
material consideration when considering planning applications. 

 
2. This is not a key decision because the document does not create new policy, but 

provides further guidance on implementing an adopted planning policy. 
 

Recommendations 
 
3. It is recommended that the Planning Portfolio Holder approves the ‘Fen Drayton 

Former Land Settlement Association Estate – Implications of the Withdrawal of the 
Code for Sustainable Homes’ document (see Appendix A) as Council Policy to be 
used as a material consideration when considering planning applications. 

 
Reasons for Recommendations 

 
4. The Fen Drayton former Land Settlement Association (LSA) estate is identified in the 

Council’s adopted Local Development Framework as a Special Policy Area, where 
buildings no longer needed for agricultural purposes (excluding glass houses) can be 
reused or redeveloped for on site experimental or other ground-breaking forms of 
sustainable living, provided that the development would not occupy a larger footprint 
than the existing buildings. The Council’s planning guidance, set out in Policy SP/11 
of the adopted Site Specific Policies Development Plan Document (DPD) and in the 
adopted Fen Drayton Former LSA Estate Supplementary Planning Document (SPD), 
requires new homes proposed within this area to meet the Government’s Code for 
Sustainable Homes (CfSH) Level 6. 
 

5. The Government is now withdrawing the CfSH and local planning authorities are 
advised to set out clearly how existing policies will be applied in decision making in 
light of this. The ‘Fen Drayton Former LSA Estate – Implications of the Withdrawal of 
the CfSH’ document details how the Council will now consider planning applications 
within this area, and how proposals can demonstrate they meet the requirements of 
the policy.  

 
 

Agenda Item 3

Page 7



Background 
 

6. The Fen Drayton former LSA estate is located to the south-west of the village of Fen 
Drayton, immediately north of the A14 and to the east of the village of Fenstanton. 
The LSA was created in the 1930s as an experimental scheme to settle unemployed 
industrial workers on landholdings and provide them with training and employment. 
The legacy of the LSA experiment in Fen Drayton is a network of smallholdings and a 
patchwork of glasshouses and former horticultural buildings in various states of repair 
and use, and large areas of unused land. 
 

7. The former LSA estate is designated as a Special Policy Area in the Council’s 
adopted Local Development Framework, and guidance on the use of the land and 
buildings within the estate is set out in Policy SP/11 of the Site Specific Policies DPD 
(adopted in January 2010) and in the Fen Drayton Former LSA Estate SPD (adopted 
in May 2011). Designation of the estate as a Special Policy Area allows a greater 
scale and range of development within the area than would normally be allowed in 
this location – the former LSA estate is located outside the village framework and 
therefore in planning terms is defined as being in the countryside, where development 
is restricted.  
 

8. Policy SP/11 allows buildings no longer needed for agricultural purposes (excluding 
glass houses) to be reused or redeveloped for on site experimental or other ground-
breaking forms of sustainable living, provided that the development would not occupy 
a larger footprint than the existing buildings. The SPD provides guidance to 
applicants on how to develop a proposal that will comply with the policy. In particular, 
it identifies the eligible buildings available for reuse or redevelopment and sets out the 
principles for any new development, including the requirement for any new dwellings 
to meet CfSH Level 6 (or Level 5 in certain circumstances) and any non-residential 
buildings to meet the BREEAM non-residential outstanding standard.    
 

9. The Government set out a new approach for applying technical standards to new 
housing in its Written Ministerial Statement (WMS, published in March 2015) and also 
in new guidance in the National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG, published in 
March 2015). This new approach only allows specific technical standards to be 
applied relating to access, water efficiency and space, and includes the withdrawal of 
the CfSH, which was a national standard used to assess the sustainability of new 
dwellings. CfSH level 6 was the highest rating and dwellings achieving this standard 
had to be zero carbon and were seen as exemplar. Previously it had been the 
Government’s intention that all new dwellings would be required to be zero carbon 
from 2016; however in the publication of Fixing the Foundations – Creating a More 
Prosperous Nation (published in July 2015), the Government made it clear that it 
does not intend to proceed with this. 
 

10. The WMS does however allow local planning authorities to continue to set and apply 
policies which require compliance with energy efficiency standards that exceed 
Building Regulations until amendments included in the Deregulation Act 2015 come 
into force. Continuing to seek ‘ground breaking and experimental forms of sustainable 
living’ within the Fen Drayton former LSA estate would also be consistent with 
national policy as the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF, published in March 
2012): allows new isolated homes in the countryside in certain circumstances, such 

Page 8



as delivering an exceptional quality or innovative nature to the design of the dwelling 
(paragraph 55); supports the move to a low carbon future by planning for 
development in a location and way to reduce greenhouse gas emissions (paragraph 
95); and states that new developments should be planned to minimise energy 
consumption and avoid increased vulnerability to the range of impacts arising from 
climate change (paragraphs 96 and 99). 
 

11. Officers have considered the implications of the Government’s WMS and withdrawal 
of the CfSH, alongside guidance in the NPPF and NPPG, and whilst the Council can 
no longer specifically require that the development achieves CfSH Level 6, for a 
development to be considered as ‘experimental and ground breaking’ it would need to 
deliver many of the same design principles. Specific paragraphs in Chapters 4 and 5 
of the SPD have therefore been revised to remove the references to the CfSH and to 
set out guidance on what is expected instead that will still ensure that any proposals 
meet the requirements of the policy. The revisions are set out in the Fen Drayton 
Former LSA Estate – Implications of the Withdrawal of the CfSH’ document. All other 
sections of the SPD remain unchanged and planning applications should still 
demonstrate how they comply with all adopted planning policies and all other aspects 
of the SPD, other than the requirements relating to the CfSH. 

 
Considerations 

 
12. The WMS states that where policies have yet to be revised, local planning authorities 

are advised to set out clearly how existing policies will be applied in decision making 
in light of the guidance in the statement. The ‘Fen Drayton Former LSA Estate – 
Implications of the Withdrawal of the CfSH’ document details how the Council will 
now consider planning applications within the Fen Drayton former LSA estate Special 
Policy Area, and how proposals can demonstrate they meet the requirements of the 
policy without referring to the CfSH. 
 

13. If approved by the Portfolio Holder, the document will be applied as Council Policy, 
and will be a material consideration when considering planning applications alongside 
the adopted policy and SPD. This document will provide interim guidance until a 
formal review of the SPD is undertaken. A formal review of the SPD would take 
several months and while the process is being carried out would leave applicants and 
case officers without clear guidance on how a proposal should meet the requirements 
of the policy following the withdrawal of the CfSH. 

  
14. The Council’s new Local Plan carries forward the Special Policy Area designation and 

the policy for the Fen Drayton former LSA estate. A formal review of the SPD will 
therefore be undertaken once the Local Plan has been adopted, so that it will support 
the new policy. The guidance set out in the ‘Fen Drayton Former LSA Estate – 
Implications of the Withdrawal of the CfSH’ document will be incorporated into the 
SPD as part of this process. The wording of the policy for the Fen Drayton former 
LSA estate included in the new Local Plan will need to be reviewed in light of the 
WMS and this will be undertaken as part of the process of completing the Inspector’s 
request for additional information to support the examination of the Local Plan.   

 
 
 

Page 9



Options 
 
15. The Planning Portfolio Holder has the following options: 

(a) agrees the approval of the ‘Fen Drayton Former LSA Estate – Implications of 
the Withdrawal of the CfSH’ document (see Appendix A) as Council Policy to 
be used as a material consideration when considering planning applications; 
or 

(b) decides not to agree the ‘Fen Drayton Former LSA Estate – Implications of 
the Withdrawal of the CfSH’ document as Council Policy – without this 
document applicants and case officers will not have clear guidance on how a 
proposal should meet the requirements of the policy following the withdrawal 
of the CfSH.  

 
Implications 
 

16. In the writing of this report, taking into account financial, legal, staffing, risk 
management, equality and diversity, climate change, community safety and any other 
key issues, the following implications have been considered: 
 

 Legal 
17. The WMS advises that local planning authorities should not set policies requiring 

achievement of specific levels of the CfSH or local technical standards for the 
performance of new dwellings, other than for access, water efficiency and space as 
outlined in the NPPG. However, the WMS allows local planning authorities to 
continue to set and apply policies which require compliance with energy efficiency 
standards that exceed Building Regulations until the Planning & Energy Act 2008 is 
amended by the Deregulation Act 2015. This section of the act has not yet come into 
force. The WMS states that where policies have yet to be revised, local planning 
authorities are advised to set out clearly how existing policies will be applied in 
decision making in light of the guidance in the statement. 

 
 Staffing 
18. The approval of the ‘Fen Drayton Former LSA Estate – Implications of the Withdrawal 

of the CfSH’ document as Council Policy will assist applicants in developing 
proposals and case officers in determining planning applications in this area by 
providing guidance that takes account of the withdrawal of the CfSH.    

 
 Equality and Diversity 
19. The SPD was subject to an Equality Impact Assessment which showed that the SPD 

would have a neutral and / or positive impact on equality and diversity. For a 
development to be considered as ‘experimental and ground breaking’ it would need to 
deliver many of the design principles that were necessary to achieve CfSH Level 6, 
and therefore it is considered that the revised guidance will have the same impacts 
on equality and diversity. 

 
 Climate Change 
20. The policy for the Fen Drayton former LSA estate supports the delivery of sustainable 

development and the development of carbon neutral buildings. 
 

 

Page 10



Consultation responses (including from the Youth Council) 
 
21. The ‘Fen Drayton Former LSA Estate – Implications of the Withdrawal of the CfSH’ 

document has been produced with assistance from case officers at South 
Cambridgeshire District Council and the Environment Team at Huntingdonshire 
District Council (via the Councils’ Service Level Agreement). Officers have advised on 
the standards that can be set given the Government’s guidance in the WMS and 
subsequent publications, and also on the revised wording of Chapters 4 and 5 of the 
SPD. 
 

22. The draft ‘Fen Drayton Former LSA Estate – Implications of the Withdrawal of the 
CfSH’ document was shared with the two local Members and the Portfolio Holder. 
 

23. The SPD will be formally revised following the adoption of the new Local Plan, and 
through this process wider public consultation will be undertaken. 

 
Effect on Strategic Aims 
 
Aim 1: We will engage with residents, parishes and businesses to ensure we 
deliver first class services and value for money.  

24. The approval of the ‘Fen Drayton Former LSA Estate – Implications of the Withdrawal 
of the CfSH’ document as Council Policy will ensure that a consistent approach is 
taken by all case officers considering planning applications within this area, and the 
publication of the document on the Council’s website alongside the SPD will ensure 
that applicants have clear guidance on how to develop a proposal that meets the 
requirements of the policy now that the CfSH has been withdrawn.     
 
Aim 3: We will ensure that South Cambridgeshire continues to offer an 
outstanding quality of life for our residents.  

25. At the heart of sustainable development is the simple idea of ensuring a better quality 
of life for everyone, now and for future generations. The aim of the SPD, and the ‘Fen 
Drayton Former LSA Estate – Implications of the Withdrawal of the CfSH’ document, 
is to provide guidance to applicants on how development proposals can ensure they 
are sustainable and achieve a high quality of design in a way that respects the local 
context. 

 
 
Background Papers 
 
Site Specific Policies Development Plan Document (adopted in January 2010): 
https://www.scambs.gov.uk/content/site-specific-policies-dpd 
 
Fen Drayton Former Land Settlement Association Estate Supplementary Planning Document 
(adopted in May 2011): https://www.scambs.gov.uk/content/fen-drayton-former-lsa-spd 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (published March 2012): 
http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/wp-content/themes/planning-
guidance/assets/NPPF.pdf  
 

Page 11



Written Ministerial Statement (published in March 2015): 
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/planning-update-march-2015 
 
National Planning Practice Guidance: Housing – Optional Technical Standards (published in 
March 2015): http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/guidance/housing-optional-
technical-standards/   
 
Fixing the Foundations: Creating a More Prosperous Nation (published in July 2015): 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fixing-the-foundations-creating-a-more-
prosperous-nation  
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Fen Drayton Former Land Settlement Association Estate – Implications of the 
Withdrawal of the Code for Sustainable Homes 
 
Report Author:  Jenny Nuttycombe – Senior Planning Policy Officer 

Telephone: (01954) 713184 

Page 12



Appendix A 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Fen Drayton Former Land 
Settlement Association Estate: 

Implications of the Withdrawal of the 
Code for Sustainable Homes 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Council Policy 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
Published by South Cambridgeshire District Council 

 
© September 2015 

Page 13



 

Page 14



 

1 

1. Introduction 
 
1.1. The Fen Drayton former Land Settlement Association (LSA) estate is identified 

in the Council’s adopted Local Development Framework as a Special Policy 
Area, where buildings no longer needed for agricultural purposes (excluding 
glass houses) can be reused or redeveloped for on site experimental or other 
ground-breaking forms of sustainable living, provided that the development 
would not occupy a larger footprint than the existing buildings. 

 
1.2. The Council’s planning guidance, set out in Policy SP/11 of the adopted Site 

Specific Policies Development Plan Document (DPD) and in the adopted Fen 
Drayton Former LSA Estate Supplementary Planning Document (SPD), 
requires new homes proposed within the former LSA estate to meet the 
Government’s Code for Sustainable Homes (CfSH) Level 6. 

 

1.3. The Government is now withdrawing the CfSH. This document details how the 
Council will now consider planning applications, and how they can demonstrate 
they meet the requirements of the policy.  

 

1.4. This document will be applied as Council Policy, and will be a material 
consideration when considering planning applications alongside the adopted 
policy and SPD. The SPD will be reviewed in due course, incorporating this 
guidance. 

 
2. Background 
 
2.1. The South Cambridgeshire Site Specific Policies DPD (adopted in January 

2010) identified the Fen Drayton former LSA estate as a Special Policy Area. 
 

POLICY SP/11 Fen Drayton Former Land Settlement Association 
Estate 
 
Within the former Land Settlement Association Site at Fen Drayton, as 
defined on the Proposals Map, where it can be demonstrated that 
buildings (excluding glass houses) are no longer needed for agricultural 
purposes, planning permission for change of use or redevelopment of 
existing buildings will be permitted for on site experimental or other 
ground-breaking forms of sustainable living provided that development 
would not occupy a larger footprint than existing buildings. 

 
2.2. The policy is supported by the Fen Drayton Former LSA Estate SPD (adopted 

in May 2011). The purpose of the SPD is to provide practical advice and 
guidance to applicants on how to develop a proposal that will comply with 
Policy SP/11. 
 

2.3. The SPD establishes that any proposed new dwellings within the policy area 
must meet the CfSH Level 6 (or Level 5 in certain circumstances) and any 
proposed non-residential buildings within the policy area must meet the 
BREEAM non-residential outstanding standard. 

Page 15



2 

3. What has Changed? 
 
3.1. The Written Ministerial Statement (March 2015)1 withdraws the CfSH aside 

from legacy cases.  
 
3.2. Legacy cases2 are described as: 

 those where residential developments are legally contracted to apply a 
code policy (e.g. affordable housing funded through the National Affordable 
Housing Programme 2015 to 2018, or earlier programme); or  

 where planning permission has been granted subject to a condition 
stipulating discharge of a code level, and developers are not appealing the 
condition nor seeking to have it removed or varied. 

In these instances only it is possible to continue to register code cases and 
conduct code assessments. 

 
4. How does this impact on the Fen Drayton Special Policy 

Area and SPD? 
 
4.1. The Fen Drayton former LSA estate would be considered as ‘countryside’, if it 

was not designated a Special Policy Area. Housing would therefore not usually 
be permitted in this location unless it was a replacement dwelling, 
reusing/converting an existing building or a dwelling required for the functioning 
of a rural enterprise or tied to agricultural use. 
 

4.2. For housing to be acceptable in this location, the adopted policy requires new 
developments to deliver ground breaking and experimental forms of 
sustainable living. This is defined in the SPD as developments meeting the 
CfSH Level 6 (see Chapter 5 of the SPD). 
 

4.3. Although the Government’s CfSH is in the process of being ‘wound down’, 
there is still a policy requirement at national and local level for development 
within the Special Policy Area to be ground-breaking, innovative and deliver 
experimental forms of sustainable living. 

 

4.4. Whilst we can no longer specifically require that the development achieves 
CfSH Level 6, for a development to be considered as ‘experimental and ground 
breaking’ it would need to deliver many of the design principles that were 
necessary to achieve CfSH Level 6. 

 
5. What will be required instead of the Code for Sustainable 

Homes? 
 
5.1. We have revised specific paragraphs in Chapters 4 and 5 of the SPD to 

remove the references to the CfSH and to set out guidance on what is 
expected instead that will still ensure that any proposals within this Special 

                                                
1 Written Ministerial Statement (March 2015) 
2 Energy Efficiency in Buildings (updated 8 May 2015)  

Page 16



 

3 

Policy Area meet the requirements of Policy SP/11. The revisions to Chapters 4 
and 5 are shown in Appendix 1 using strikethrough for text to be deleted and 
underlining for new text to be added. 
 

5.2. These revisions to the SPD provide Council Policy regarding the 
implementation of Policy SP/11, and in particular how the Council will consider 
whether a development provides for on site experimental or other ground-
breaking forms of sustainable living. All other sections of the SPD remain 
unchanged and planning applications should still demonstrate how they comply 
with all adopted development plan policies and all other aspects of the SPD, 
other than the CfSH. 
 

5.3. The SPD will be formally revised following the adoption of the new Local Plan. 
 

Page 17



4 

 
 

Page 18



 

5 

Appendix 1: Fen Drayton Former LSA Estate SPD – Revised Chapters 4 and 5 
 
 
 

Page 19



 
 
 
 
 

   
Fen Drayton Former LSA Estate SPD (Revised Chapters 4 & 5) September 2015 

6 

Fen Drayton Former Land Settlement Association Estate SPD 
Revised Chapter 4 (paragraphs 4.14-4.28) and Chapter 5 (paragraphs 5.22-5.50)  

 

South  
Cambridgeshire 
District Council 

4.  DEFINITIONS AND AN EXPLANATION OF TERMS 
 
DEFINING GROUNDBREAKING AND EXPERIMENTAL SUSTAINABLE 
LIVING 

 
4.14 Policy SP/11 requires that any new development within the policy area must 

be for experimental or other groundbreaking forms of sustainable living.  
The supporting text accompanying Policy SP/11 states that in this location, 
a requirement of sustainable living will be a development that is carbon 
neutral. 

 
4.15 The planning system cannot directly influence all aspects of sustainable 

living.   However through policies in the LDF, the planning system can 
create sustainable developments that allow residents the opportunity to 
have a lifestyle that aspires to the principles of sustainable living.  The 
overarching development strategy for South Cambridgeshire set out in the 
LDF focuses the majority of development on the most sustainable locations 
where both residential and non-residential uses are accessible by high 
quality public transport.  It is recognised that the former LSA estate at Fen 
Drayton is not one of the most sustainable locations within the district; 
however the policy area does have significant opportunities to pursue 
sustainability principles related to energy generation and food production.    

 
4.16 The concept of sustainable living encapsulates more than simply the design 

and sustainability of any new buildings within the policy area.  Sustainable 
living can be defined as a lifestyle that attempts to reduce an individual’s 
use of resources and therefore their carbon footprint.  This is generally 
achieved by changing either an individual’s or a community’s methods of 
transport, types and amount of energy consumption, level of water 
consumption, sources of food and other products, and home and work 
locations. 

 
4.17 Developments of highly sustainable buildings will go some way to achieving 

the principles of sustainable living and should ensure that carbon emissions 
in construction and occupation are minimised.  The Code for Sustainable 
Homes (CfSH) and the Building Research Establishment Environmental 
Assessment Method (BREEAM) for non-residential buildings are nationally 
recognised assessments for measuring the sustainability of buildings and 
pay particular attention to their carbon emissions.    

 
4.18 The CfSH is used to assess the sustainability of new dwellings built in the 

UK.  Each new dwelling is assessed against nine sustainability categories: 
energy / carbon dioxide; water; materials; surface water run-off; waste; 
pollution; health and wellbeing; management; and ecology.  Within each 
category a number of credits are available.  Credits for each of the 
categories are weighted and added together to produce a single overall 
score.  The score is translated into a rating from 1 to 6 stars to provide the 

Page 20



 
 
 
 
 

   
September 2015 Fen Drayton Former LSA Estate SPD (Revised Chapters 4 & 5) 

7 

Fen Drayton Former Land Settlement Association Estate SPD 
Revised Chapter 4 (paragraphs 4.14-4.28) and Chapter 5 (paragraphs 5.22-5.50)  

South  
Cambridgeshire 
District Council 

overall sustainability performance of a dwelling.  CfSH Level 6 (6 stars) is 
the highest rating and dwellings meeting this standard are seen as 
exemplar sustainable dwellings as the development must be zero carbon. 

 
4.19 The CfSH also includes mandatory targets relating to the reduction of 

carbon emissions that will be introduced through changes to UK Building 
Regulations.  From 2016, all new dwellings constructed are expected to be 
zero carbon.  

 
4.20 The Standard Assessment Procedure (SAP) is the recommended method 

for calculating the energy efficiency and carbon dioxide emissions of new 
dwellings and t.  The calculation is used to ensure that the dwelling 
complies with building regulations and is also used to inform the CfSH 
rating.   

 
4.21 Energy Performance Certificates (EPCs) are statutorily required for all new 

dwellings and when a dwelling changes ownership or tenancy.  The 
certificates provide a measure of the energy efficiency and carbon dioxide 
emissions.  Each dwelling assessed is graded ‘A’ to ‘G’, with ‘A’ being the 
most energy efficient and least polluting in terms of CO2e.  EPCs also 
provide a detailed recommendation report suggesting improvements to the 
dwelling to increase its energy efficiency and reduce its carbon emissions.  

 
4.22 The BREEAM non-residential standard is used to assess the environmental 

performance of new and refurbished non-residential buildings, such as 
offices, schools, prisons, hospitals and multi-residential buildings (e.g. 
sheltered housing or halls of residence).  The BREEAM non-residential 
standard assesses each building against ten categories: energy; water; 
materials; waste; pollution; health and wellbeing; management; land use 
and ecology; transport; and innovation.  Within each category a number of 
credits are available and the credits for each of the categories are added 
together to produce a single overall score.  The score is translated into a 
rating from ‘pass’ to ‘outstanding’ to provide the overall sustainability 
performance of a building.  It is the Government’s intention that all new non-
residential buildings are zero carbon from 2019. 

 
4.23 A zero carbon (or carbon neutral)carbon neutral development can be 

defined as one where the building and its use contribute no net additional 
carbon dioxide emissions to the atmosphere during occupation in a 
calendar year.  This includes emissions from ‘regulated’ energy use covered 
under Part L of the UK Building Regulations (space and water heating, 
lighting and ventilation) as well as those relating to ‘plug loads’ or ‘process 
loads’ (electricity usage by ‘unregulated’ appliances and equipment used 
within the building).  In a calendar year, to be zero carboncarbon neutral the 
emissions from both ‘regulated’ energy use and expected energy use from 
‘unregulated’ appliances, must be cancelled out by the generation of 
renewable energy.  As renewable energy is generated irregularly throughout 

Page 21



 
 
 
 
 

   
Fen Drayton Former LSA Estate SPD (Revised Chapters 4 & 5) September 2015 

8 

Fen Drayton Former Land Settlement Association Estate SPD 
Revised Chapter 4 (paragraphs 4.14-4.28) and Chapter 5 (paragraphs 5.22-5.50)  

 

South  
Cambridgeshire 
District Council 

the year and may not allow a match between supply and demand at any 
given time, the net amount of renewable energy generated in the year is 
used (i.e. imports to and exports from the National Grid should be equal).   

 
4.24 The net annual emissions figure is used as otherwise there would be a need 

for each building to include an energy storage device, as it would in 
essence have to be ‘off-grid’ and surplus energy generated would need to 
be stored for use at a later time.  The net annual emissions definition 
permits the use of the National Grid as both a virtual storage device and 
backup supply.  It should be noted that, for the purposes of Policy SP/11, 
this definition does not seek to preclude or disincentivise development that 
achieves independence from the National Grid. 

 
4.25 At the time of preparing this SPD, the definition of zero carbon for new 

dwellings included in the CfSH correlates with that set out above; however, 
there is not a definition of zero carbon for new non-residential buildings 
included in the BREEAM non-residential standard.  The Government is 
however in the process of preparing a revised zero carbon definition that 
could extend to include both new dwellings and new non-residential 
buildings; therefore during the lifetime of Policy SP/11, it is likely that the 
definition of zero carbon (or carbon neutral) will be changed. 

 
4.26 The Government has previously consulted on a revised definition of zero 

carbon that includes the option of investment in off-site ‘allowable solutions’ 
for tackling any remaining carbon emissions that cannot be offset on site.  
‘Allowable solutions’ might involve: the establishment of off-site renewable 
energy generation; the export of excess renewable heat for use in a nearby 
community; the installation of agreed energy conservation and efficiency 
measures in a nearby community; or simply a financial contribution (per 
tonne of CO2e needing to be offset) to a locally held fund for use on carbon 
reduction measures in the local area.  It is also possible that the 
Government will set out different ‘allowable solution’ levels to be applied to 
different scales and types of development according to how practical and 
viable it is to approach a comprehensive zero carbon standard through 
solely on-site means. 

 
4.27 Therefore for purposes of Policy SP/11, the Council will use the definition of 

zero carbon (or carbon neutral) as included in the CfSH or BREEAM non-
residential standard at the time that any planning permission is granted. 
Until a zero carbon definition for non-residential buildings is included in the 
BREEAM non-residential standard or in a new Code for Sustainable 
Buildings, the Council will adopt the definition of zero carbon as set out in 
this SPD (see paragraph 4.23). 

  
4.28 There are no standard definitions for the terms groundbreaking and 

experimental, however they are generally interpreted to mean innovative 
and being ahead of the times.  Therefore, experimental and 

Page 22



 
 
 
 
 

   
September 2015 Fen Drayton Former LSA Estate SPD (Revised Chapters 4 & 5) 

9 

Fen Drayton Former Land Settlement Association Estate SPD 
Revised Chapter 4 (paragraphs 4.14-4.28) and Chapter 5 (paragraphs 5.22-5.50)  

South  
Cambridgeshire 
District Council 

groundbreaking forms of sustainable living can be defined as 
development that is innovative and ahead of the times by achieving 
standards significantly above those required and achieved elsewhere and 
that would allow a lifestyle that aspires to the principles of sustainable living.  
Any proposal should achieve zero carbon (or carbon neutral) development 
ahead of the Government’s requirements.  Thecarbon neutrality and the 
development and design principles set out in Chapter 5 provide guidance on 
how to ensure that any proposed development meets this definition.    

 

Page 23



 
 
 
 
 

   
Fen Drayton Former LSA Estate SPD (Revised Chapters 4 & 5) September 2015 

10 

Fen Drayton Former Land Settlement Association Estate SPD 
Revised Chapter 4 (paragraphs 4.14-4.28) and Chapter 5 (paragraphs 5.22-5.50)  

 

South  
Cambridgeshire 
District Council 

5.  DEVELOPMENT AND DESIGN PRINCIPLES 
 

ASSESSMENT OF SUSTAINABILITY 
 
5.22 Based on the definitions set out in Chapter 4, any proposed new dwellings 

within the policy area must meet the Code for Sustainable Homes (CfSH) 
Level 6 be carbon neutral and any proposed non-residential buildings within 
the policy area must meet the BREEAM non-residential outstanding 
standard.  This will ensure that any development proposals are 
groundbreaking and experimental in their design and sustainability, 
especially in the context of a rural location adjacent to a South 
Cambridgeshire village.   
 

5.23 The assessment of the proposed new buildings against either the Code for 
Sustainable Homes or the appropriate BREEAM non-residential standard 
must be carried out by a certified assessor at both the detailed design stage 
and the post construction stage.  At each stage a certificate of attainment 
will be issued that must be submitted to the Council.  The buildings must not 
be occupied until the final certification has been issued and the Council is 
satisfied that the required standard has been met. Any planning application 
made for residential development must clearly set out how it will achieve 
carbon neutrality, by demonstrating how the building will balance the 
amount of carbon dioxide released into the air by saving and lowering 
emissions elsewhere. Carbon is released into the atmosphere during each 
stage of a building’s life: 

 Building construction 
 Building operation 
 Building renovation and deconstruction 

Therefore reduction calculations should consider all stages of the building’s 
life. 
 

5.23a The assessment of proposed new residential buildings for carbon neutrality 
must be supported by a full Standard Assessment Procedure (SAP) based 
report, carried out by an accredited assessor, at both the detailed design 
stage, which is submitted with the planning application and the post 
construction stage. The buildings must not be occupied until the SAP 
assessment proving the buildings carbon neutrality has been issued and the 
Council is satisfied that the required standard has been met. 

 
5.23b  The assessment of proposed non-residential buildings using the BREEAM 

non-residential standard must be carried out by a certified assessor at both 
the detailed design stage and the post construction stage.  At each stage a 
certificate of attainment will be issued that must be submitted to the Council.  
The buildings must not be occupied until the final certification has been 
issued and the Council is satisfied that the required standard has been met. 

 

Page 24



 
 
 
 
 

   
September 2015 Fen Drayton Former LSA Estate SPD (Revised Chapters 4 & 5) 

11 

Fen Drayton Former Land Settlement Association Estate SPD 
Revised Chapter 4 (paragraphs 4.14-4.28) and Chapter 5 (paragraphs 5.22-5.50)  

South  
Cambridgeshire 
District Council 

5.24 It is recognised that achieving CfSH Level 6carbon neutrality is a 
challenging target for an individual new dwelling and also that the focus in 
Policy SP/11 entirely on the new sustainable buildings will leave the existing 
dwellings in stark contrast to the new sustainable buildings in terms of their 
energy efficiency and carbon emissions.  Therefore in certain circumstances 
where there is agreement between the Council and the applicant and as an 
alternative to achieving CfSH Level 6carbon neutrality on a proposed new 
dwelling, the Council will consider development proposals for a less 
comprehensive carbon reduction standard on the new dwelling provided 
that the proposals include retrofitting of energy efficiency solutions and/or 
renewable energy micro-generation technologies to the existing dwelling.  
This alternative can only be applied where an existing dwelling is included in 
the proposed development.  For each existing dwelling a maximum of one 
new CfSH Level 5 dwelling new dwelling achieving annual net zero carbon 
emissions from ‘regulated’ energy uses can be proposed. 

 
5.25 In practical terms, this would mean: 
 

(a) that the proposed new dwelling must achieve CfSH Level 5 which 
requires annual net zero carbon emissions from the ‘regulated’ energy 
uses within the proposed new dwelling (essentially space and water 
heating, lighting and ventilation); 

 
AND 
 
(b) the energy performance rating of the existing dwelling must be 

significantly improved through a comprehensive scheme of energy 
and carbon reduction measures to be agreed with the local planning 
authority. 

 
5.26 To guide the energy and carbon reduction measures necessary to improve 

the energy performance rating of the existing dwelling, a full Standard 
Assessment Procedure (SAP) based report with recommendations, carried 
out by an accredited assessor, must be undertaken and submitted with the 
planning application.  Based on the recommendations in the report, a list of 
improvement measures must be agreed with the local planning authority.  
As an indicative guide, the cost of the improvement measures to the 
existing dwelling should be equivalent to around 10% or more of the total 
cost of materials, equipment and construction of the new CfSH Level 5 
dwelling achieving annual net zero carbon emissions from the ‘regulated’ 
energy uses.  The agreed improvements will be subject to a planning 
agreement (in the form of either an s106 agreement or a unilateral 
undertaking).  The new dwelling must not be occupied until the 
improvements to the existing dwelling have been undertaken and the final 
certification a final full Standard Assessment Procedure (SAP) based report 
for the new dwelling has been issued and the Council is satisfied that the 
required standards have been met.    

Page 25



 
 
 
 
 

   
Fen Drayton Former LSA Estate SPD (Revised Chapters 4 & 5) September 2015 

12 

Fen Drayton Former Land Settlement Association Estate SPD 
Revised Chapter 4 (paragraphs 4.14-4.28) and Chapter 5 (paragraphs 5.22-5.50)  

 

South  
Cambridgeshire 
District Council 

 
5.27 The Council will accept development proposals that involve combining of 

the footprint of the existing house and any eligible footprint, provided that 
the resulting dwelling achieves CfSH Level 5annual net zero carbon 
emissions from the ‘regulated’ energy uses. The Council will accept this less 
comprehensive carbon reduction standard, as the demolition of the existing 
dwelling will achieve a reduction in carbon emissions that should be 
recognised. Development proposals involving the use of eligible footprint to 
extend or upgrade the existing dwelling will not be permitted as they cannot 
achieve the sustainability levels required by Policy SP/11.   

 
DESIGN PRINCIPLES 

 
5.28 To design a building that meets the level of sustainability expected by Policy 

SP/11, the proposed development will need to include sustainable design 
solutions that will affect the internal design and layout of the building and 
the external appearance and location of the building. The Code for 
Sustainable Homes: Technical Guide (May 2009) 
[http://www.communities.gov.uk/publications/planningandbuilding/codeguide] 
outlines how a development can achieve the different CfSH levels. Similarly 
detailed assessor manuals are available covering the implementation of the 
BREEAM non-residential standards. The following paragraphs summarise 
the key design principles that should be considered when creating a 
development seeking to achieve CfSH Level 6 or BREEAM non-residential 
outstanding standard high standards of sustainability. This SPD should also 
be read alongside the general design principles for all developments in the 
district that are set out in the Development Control Policies DPD and the 
District Design Guide SPD. 
 
Energy, Materials and Health & Wellbeing 

 
5.29 To achieve a zero carbon carbon neutral development, the design and 

construction of each building needs to incorporate very high energy 
efficiency measures.  Any wasted or misused energy sourced from fossil 
fuels (oil, gas or national grid electricity) would increase carbon emissions 
from the site and therefore need to be offset by increased renewable energy 
generation on site. A new dwelling designed to meet the PassivHaus 
standard [www.passivhaus.org.uk] will achieve high standards of energy 
efficiency through high thermal performance and may help to meet the 
requirements of a carbon neutral dwelling.   

   
5.30 The energy efficiency of a building can be improved through the 

implementation of one or more of the following measures: 
 insulation of the loft, roof, walls and floor; 
 double or triple glazing; 
 draught proofing; 
 installation of a highly energy efficient boiler; 

Page 26



 
 
 
 
 

   
September 2015 Fen Drayton Former LSA Estate SPD (Revised Chapters 4 & 5) 

13 

Fen Drayton Former Land Settlement Association Estate SPD 
Revised Chapter 4 (paragraphs 4.14-4.28) and Chapter 5 (paragraphs 5.22-5.50)  

South  
Cambridgeshire
District Council 

 improvements to central heating controls e.g. room thermostats, 
radiator valves; and / or 

 installation of mechanical ventilation and heat recovery systems. 
For the highest standards of CfSH (Levels 5 and 6) and BREEAM non-
residential outstanding standard, the implementation of all these measures 
to a high standard would be taken as the default position.   

 
5.31 The internal and external layout of a proposed building, its orientation and 

the amount of shading from adjacent buildings or vegetation all have a 
direct effect on the amount of daylight and heat from the sun that enter the 
building and therefore the demand for energy, heat and cooling.  A south 
facing elevation and roof plane enable optimal use of solar power in all its 
forms: solar panels (for electricity and hot water), passive solar heat gain, 
and natural light.  The fabric of the building is also important in determining 
the energy demands of the building.  High performance building materials 
and construction methods can minimise the loss of energy and carbon from 
the building.  

  
5.32 Improving the energy efficiency of a building through its design, construction 

and materials should always be considered before low and zero carbon 
renewable energy technologies are installed to provide heat and power.  
However to achieve the highest levels of sustainability, it will be necessary 
to include some of these technologies, such as solar thermal panels, 
photovoltaic panels, biomass boilers or wind turbines, to provide energy for 
hot water, lighting, cooking and the use of other electrical appliances.  Micro 
domestic scale Combined Heat and Power (CHP) systems are very much a 
rarity and tend to be gas powered.   

 
5.33 Some technologies are more suited to multi-dwelling or mixed-use 

developments, by providing energy from a single shared source.  For 
example, a community scale biomass CHP system maybe an option for Fen 
Drayton but it would require a very high level of co-ordination and 
management between the different building owners to facilitate effective 
heat distribution. 

 
5.34 The renewable heat technologies most likely to be applicable under Policy 

SP/11 are: 
 biomass boilers for space and water heating – using logs, wood 

pellets or chips in place of fossil fuels; 
 heat pumps – collecting heat from the air, water or ground and using 

compression and expansion (like a refrigerator in reverse) to magnify 
the heat and transfer it to a space and/or water heating system inside 
the dwelling; or 

 solar hot water – capturing the heat from the sun to raise the hot 
water tank temperature via a solar panel. 

 

Page 27



 
 
 
 
 

   
Fen Drayton Former LSA Estate SPD (Revised Chapters 4 & 5) September 2015 

14 

Fen Drayton Former Land Settlement Association Estate SPD 
Revised Chapter 4 (paragraphs 4.14-4.28) and Chapter 5 (paragraphs 5.22-5.50)  

 

South  
Cambridgeshire 
District Council 

5.35 The use of different types of renewable electricity generating technologies is 
likely to be more restricted in Fen Drayton.  The two options available are 
wind turbines or photovoltaic panels.  The wind speed data for the local 
area suggests that this resource is not sufficient to make wind turbines an 
especially viable option.  Photovoltaic cells are likely to prove a more 
universal solution although large areas of coverage are likely to be required 
to produce enough electricity. 

 
5.36 The Council would also consider the case for several applicants to work 

together in the financing and construction of a more community scale 
installation that could serve more than one dwelling or non-residential 
building. 

 
5.37 The Government has recently shifted its financial support for local 

renewable energy projects away from one-off grants to the offer of a 
guaranteed income stream from all the energy that has been renewably 
generated.  For electricity this is termed the Feed-in Tariff and was 
introduced on 1 April 2010 – it offers a guaranteed return for each kWh 
generated.  The Renewable Heat Incentive (due to be introduced 1 April 
2011) should does something similar for all renewable heat energy 
technologies. 

 
5.38 A building will be more sustainable over its lifetime if it is designed to be 

adaptable to the different needs of its occupiers over time.  The Joseph 
Rowntree Foundation has developed the Lifetime Homes standard that sets 
out standards relating to the accessibility of a dwelling that would allow it to 
be adapted to the changing needs of its occupiers.  This includes measures 
such as ensuring that the approach to all entrances is level or gently 
sloping, including sufficient circulation and turning spaces for wheelchair 
users, and ensuring that the downstairs space is designed to allow the 
adaption of rooms to include a shower room and bedroom.  Achievement of 
the Lifetime Homes standard is a mandatory requirement for CfSH Level 
6encouraged. 

 
Water 

 
5.39 The East of England is an area of serious water stress as it is one of the 

driest areas in the UK.  A key part of achieving sustainable development is 
making sure new developments are as water efficient as possible.  To meet 
the CfSH Levels 5 or 6, As a result, new residential development would be 
expected to deliver predicted water consumption must be below 80 litres per 
person per day.  Typical water usage in a standard home is approximately 
150 litres per person per day.   

 
5.40 Part of the water saving required can be achieved through water efficiency 

measures such as low flush toilets and water efficient taps, showers, 
dishwashers and washing machines.  However for any development 

Page 28



 
 
 
 
 

   
September 2015 Fen Drayton Former LSA Estate SPD (Revised Chapters 4 & 5) 

15 

Fen Drayton Former Land Settlement Association Estate SPD 
Revised Chapter 4 (paragraphs 4.14-4.28) and Chapter 5 (paragraphs 5.22-5.50)  

South  
Cambridgeshire 
District Council 

proposal to achieve CfSH Levels 5 or 6, any development proposal must 
also include water recycling through rainwater harvesting and/or greywater 
recycling is required. 

 
5.41 Rainwater harvesting involves capturing the rainwater that lands on the roof 

and storing it in a tank for later use.  Due to the size of storage tank required 
to capture enough rainwater to supply the occupants until the next rainfall, 
the tank is often located externally, and in most cases underground.  
Greywater recycling involves treating and reusing waste water from the 
bath, shower and sinks.  Unlike rainwater harvesting systems, the supply of 
greywater is available on a daily basis, so the storage tanks for greywater 
systems are much smaller and can be incorporated into the dwelling and in 
some cases concealed within the bathroom of the dwelling.  Information 
guides on greywater recycling and rainwater harvesting are available from 
the Environment Agency (see Chapter 6 for further details).  Further details 
on the practicalities of using greywater recycling and rainwater harvesting 
are included in the Cambridge Water Cycle Strategy (Phase 2), which is 
due to be published in Spring 2011.           

 
 

Surface Water Run-off 
 
5.42 Any development on the site should not increase either peak or annual run-

off rates.  Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) are the preferred 
approach to managing rainfall runoff and should be used in any proposed 
development.  They can be used to reduce the rate and volume of surface 
water discharges from sites to the receiving environment (e.g. 
watercourses), as well as reduce pollutants, maintain recharge to 
groundwater and provide a natural amenity and green space within a 
development.  SuDS comprise of a range of techniques that that allow 
surface water to be managed through infiltration and attenuation in a more 
natural manner through the use of permeable surface treatments and 
swales, basins and ponds.  In a well designed SuDS scheme a number of 
different features should be provided in sequence, referred to as the 
management train.  Evidence should be provided that all potential SuDS 
options have been considered and suitable justifications given where 
options have been discounted.  Further guidance on SuDs can be found in 
the District Design Guide SPD.    

 
 

Waste and Recycling 
 
5.43 Waste management should be considered during and after construction.  All 

developments must minimise waste during construction and include suitable 
spaces in the buildings, and where appropriate across the site, for the 
storage of waste and recycling when the building is occupied.  More 

Page 29



 
 
 
 
 

   
Fen Drayton Former LSA Estate SPD (Revised Chapters 4 & 5) September 2015 

16 

Fen Drayton Former Land Settlement Association Estate SPD 
Revised Chapter 4 (paragraphs 4.14-4.28) and Chapter 5 (paragraphs 5.22-5.50)  

 

South  
Cambridgeshire 
District Council 

detailed guidance is provided in the RECAP Waste Management Design 
Guide SPD, which is due for adoption in 2011. 

 
5.44 Both the CfSH and The BREEAM non-residential standard incorporates 

design and construction elements to promote the recycling of waste through 
local authorities conventional collection and disposal practices, and any new 
residential development would also be expected to support these principles.  
In South Cambridgeshire, the local authority kerbside collection service 
achieves a recycling rate for household waste of over 50% with a revised 
target of 65% for 2011/12, aiming towards an estimated maximum of 90%. 

 
5.45 To improve the household waste recycling levels beyond those already 

achieved in the district would require a change in the behaviour of the 
occupants of the new sustainable buildings constructed on the former LSA 
estate.  Occupants would need to embrace the two vital waste management 
elements of a more sustainable lifestyle: reducing the extent and altering 
the nature of consumption so that less waste is generated in the first place 
and, where possible, reusing goods that are no longer required either as 
their original use or for alternative uses.  

 
5.46 Organic compostable waste produced can be usefully collected for on-site 

usage or brought together to develop one or more community composting 
facilities in suitable locations that could serve as many members of the local 
community as possible without the need for vehicular transportation (e.g. via 
a wheelbarrow).  Generating and using compost locally reduces the 
transport costs associated with a more conventional local authority 
collection, and draws attention to the benefits of reusing or recycling a 
resource within local boundaries. 

 
5.47 In designing developments, sustainably managing sewage waste should be 

considered.  Because of the availability of land within the policy area, 
relatively natural reed-bed solutions may be an option.  Other options to 
consider include the use of composting toilets. The Council would welcome 
the incorporation of such measures in accordance with the appropriate 
Codes of Practice and British Standards. 

 
 
Ecology 

 
5.48 Any new development proposal should consider the existing ecology and 

biodiversity of the site and minimise its impact during and post construction.  
Opportunities should be taken to enhance biodiversity where possible.  
More information is provided in the Biodiversity SPD.   

 
 
 
 

Page 30



 
 
 
 
 

   
September 2015 Fen Drayton Former LSA Estate SPD (Revised Chapters 4 & 5) 

17 

Fen Drayton Former Land Settlement Association Estate SPD 
Revised Chapter 4 (paragraphs 4.14-4.28) and Chapter 5 (paragraphs 5.22-5.50)  

South  
Cambridgeshire
District Council 

Summary of Design Principles 
 
5.49 Drawing together the various aspects of sustainable design covered in this 

chapter, the following list is a summary of the design principles that should 
be considered when developing any proposals: 
 orientation of buildings to face within no more than 45 degrees of 

south to maximise solar gain; 
 provision of shelter and shading from vegetation and other buildings 

to minimise heat loss in winter and provide adequate shading in 
summer; 

 consideration of the internal layout and position of windows, doors 
and roof lights to make best use of higher temperatures and daylight – 
to maximise solar gain, circulation rooms (e.g. living rooms and 
kitchens) incorporating tall windows should be located along the south 
facing elevation whilst operational rooms (e.g. bathrooms and utility 
spaces) with small windows should be located along the northern 
elevation; 

 use of high specification insulation materials and draught proofing to 
minimise heat escape; 

 reduction of energy demand through the use of energy efficient 
appliances and lighting; 

 use of materials with reduced energy inputs (e.g. sustainably 
produced timber) or that are locally manufactured or made from 
recycled materials;  

 use of exposed materials with a high thermal mass, such as concrete 
or masonry, to allow the building to store heat in warmer temperatures 
and release heat in cooler temperatures; 

 inclusion of suitable renewable energy technologies for heat and 
power generation; 

 inclusion of design solutions that allow the building to meet the 
Lifetime Homes standard; 

 use of water efficient or water limiting systems such as low flow taps 
and showers; 

 inclusion of water recycling systems such as greywater recycling or 
rainwater harvesting; 

 inclusion of SuDS to control surface water run-off; 
 use of sustainable construction processes which avoid or reduce 

waste; 
 inclusion of suitable spaces for the storage of recycling within the 

building; and 
 use of measures to sustainably manage sewage waste. 

 
The Council would expect a detailed Sustainability Strategy, detailing how 
residential development will meet these requirements, including any SAP 
assessments undertaken, to be submitted at the detailed design stage 
with the planning application. 

 

Page 31



 
 
 
 
 

   
Fen Drayton Former LSA Estate SPD (Revised Chapters 4 & 5) September 2015 

18 

Fen Drayton Former Land Settlement Association Estate SPD 
Revised Chapter 4 (paragraphs 4.14-4.28) and Chapter 5 (paragraphs 5.22-5.50)  

 

South  
Cambridgeshire 
District Council 

An Example 
 
5.50 The ZED factory have developed the rural ZED kit house to provide a zero 

carbon housing solution for schemes where the density is less than 50 
dwellings per hectare.  The rural ZED can be tailored to meet CfSH Levels 3 
to 6.  A typical 3 bedroom two storey rural ZED house or a 4 bed two and 
half storey rural ZED house has a footprint of 68.25 sqm (10.5m x 6.5m).  
More information is available at www.ruralzed.com. 

 
 

Page 32



 

 

 

 

 

 
 
  
Report To: Planning Portfolio Holder 8 September 2015 
Lead Officer: Director - New Communities & Planning   

 
 

 
Consultation on Draft Amendments to the Delegated Powers and Functions for 

Planning Decisions 
 
 
Purpose 

 
1. To consider draft amendments to the current scheme of delegation, which forms part 

of the Council’s Constitution, so that officers have the powers to determine a range of 
applications and Planning Committee reaches robust decisions on schemes of an 
appropriate scale and nature. 
 

2. This is not a key decision because it is presenting proposals for consultation, the 
results of which will inform a review of the existing scheme of delegation, which forms 
part of the Council’s Constitution. 
 
Recommendation 

 
3. It is recommended that the Portfolio Holder considers the report and approves 

Appendix A as the basis for consultation with parish councils, local members, the 
Planning Committee and members of the public. 
 
Reasons for Recommendation 
 

4. This is to enable full consultation on proposed improvements to the scheme of 
delegation and management of the Planning Committee agenda. It is timely to review 
such delegation arrangements.  
 
Background 

 
5. The vast majority, approximately 90%, of all planning decisions under the current 

scheme are delegated to officers. Even so, Planning Committee still has lengthy 
agendas, often including some matters of a minor nature. Raising the level of 
delegated cases to 95% would increase efficiency and allow Planning Committee to 
focus on the most significant cases. 
 

6. Any changes, however, should be in the context of achieving the appropriate balance 
between implementing national and local planning policy and the need to take proper 
account of local views. 
 

7. Current arrangements set out particular planning matters to be delegated. This 
means the scheme is readily outdated by changes in national regulation and policy. 
For example, on 5 November 2014, minor amendments to the scheme were 
approved to enable new planning application types, such as notifications of prior 
approval, to be delegated to officers. This was a technical change in response to 
government additions to the planning system, and did not materially affect the level of 
delegation. 

Agenda Item 4

Page 33



 
8. To avoid this repeatedly occurring, a scheme is proposed that delegates all planning 

decisions to officers, with a list of exceptions reserved to Planning Committee.  
 

9. The current procedure for referral of a case to Planning Committee includes: 
 
(a) For Major or Minor Developments a recommendation of approval would 

conflict with written representations on material planning ground received from 
a Parish Council within the specified consultation period where such 
representations would not substantially be satisfied through the imposition of 
conditions and 

(b) An elected member of the District Council has, within 21 days of the date of 
registration of an application, requested in writing and the Planning and New 
Communities Director, Head of New Communities or Development Control 
Manager has agreed that Committee determine the application…in 
consultation with the Chairman of Planning Committee… 

 
10. Operation of these referral mechanisms has in practice not been clear. There is an 

anomaly in that parish councils have an automatic referral, whereas local members 
may refer only through designated officers and the Chairman. The roles of local 
members and parish councils would benefit from review, and this should bring greater 
clarity.  
 

11. At the 10 August 2015 Portfolio Holder meeting, the need to review planning decision 
delegations was noted. This report is brought forward to address the following issues: 
 
(a) To clarify the role of local members and parish councils  
(b) Retain a simple process that is robust from challenge and 
(c) Increase efficiency and working with local communities and partners. 
 
Considerations 
 

12. The consequence of the current referral arrangement is that Planning Committee 
agendas can be lengthy and burdensome on members’ and officers’ time. 
Furthermore, there is a risk, in incorporating parish councils into the planning decision 
making process, of challenge to the integrity of decision making of the local planning 
authority. 
 

13. The principle of the revised delegation scheme should be that all planning decisions 
are delegated by members to officers except for a range of applications of scale and 
nature more appropriate for members to determine. A draft for consultation is set out 
in Appendix A. It is based on schemes adopted by other rural local planning 
authorities that are regarded as best practice, but adapted to include matters in the 
Council’s current scheme. 
 

14. All District Council members would retain the ability to call in at the end of the 
consultation period any application to the Planning Committee, subject to the 
Chairman’s agreement upon the planning reason for doing so. This should enable 
local district and parish council members to work more closely together in 
representing local community views.  
 

15. Changes to the Joint Development Committees are under consideration, principally 
that planning decisions for City Deal transport schemes are delegated to the 
Cambridge Fringes JDCC from the County Council and also considering the  
Northstowe JDCC. These matters are not considered in this report. 

Page 34



 
Options 
 

16. The preferred option is that parish councils, local members and planning officers 
continue to work together to ensure that local views are properly expressed to the 
Council, and balanced against national and local planning policies. The 
recommended proposal is demonstrated in the chart below: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
17. Alternative options could be:  

(a) Extend the current referral arrangement of parish councils to one of full 
delegation for decision upon certain types of application. This option has been 
explored in the past by a few councils, notably Cornwall and Chelmsford, but 
has been rejected, in order for the district council to retain its integrity and 
responsibility as the Local Planning Authority. The desire to make planning 
decisions at the more local level has resulted in area planning committees in 
various authorities. These are, however, expensive to run and can be complex 
in operation or 

(b) Enable parish councils and local members to both refer cases in an exactly 
similar way, but through discussion with designated officers and the Chairman 
of Planning Committee. 

 
18. For information, Huntingdonshire District Council is currently reviewing corporately its 

scheme of officer delegations and Cambridge City Council has adopted full 
delegation to its Director of Environment, with a list of exceptions.  
 
Consultation Questions 
 

19. In a future scheme of delegation of planning decisions: 
 
(a) Should there be a stronger role for local members?  
(b) Should the Chairman of the Planning Committee have more control over 

which cases are considered by Committee? 
(c) Are there more efficient ways that planning decisions can be delegated? 
 
Programme of Consultation 
 

20. Having set out the issues and options and what other authorities follow, it is proposed 
to consult with parish councils and partner authorities.  
 

Planning Committee 
Strategic and district overview and 
decision making body of development 
management and planning decisions 

Local members 
Participating in debate on local decisions 
referred by them to Planning Committee 

Planning Officers 
Explaining national and local planning 
policy and making recommendations  

Parish councils 
Making representations of local communities to 
the local planning authority 

Page 35



 
 
Background Papers 
  
Report to 9 July 2015 portfolio holder meeting - ‘South Cambridgeshire Local Plan – 
Response to Inspector’s Letter’ 
 
Report Author:  Tony Pierce – Development Control Manager (interim) 

Telephone: (01954) 713165 
 
 
 

 
 
  
 

Meeting Date Decision 
Planning Portfolio Holder 8 September Approve draft for 

consultations 
Joint Committees & 
parishes 

Sept/October Make comment 

Planning Committee 4 November Make comment 
Planning Portfolio Holder 10 November Recommend to Council 
Council 26 November Approve 

Page 36



Appendix A 

Consultation on a proposed delegation of planning decisions in South 
Cambridgeshire 

 
South Cambridgeshire District Council operates an adopted scheme of delegation 
which sets out the range of decisions that designated officers can make on behalf of 
the Council. In terms of planning proposals and associated applications, the majority 
are delegated to designated officers without the need for referral to Planning 
Committee, where the decision is voted upon by elected Members. 

 
Delegated decisions are carefully considered by the case officer who outlines their 
recommendations, and reasons behind the recommendations, in a balanced 
delegated report, which is checked by a designated officer before a decision is 
agreed and issued. 

 
By operating a scheme of delegation, decisions are made in good time, in line with 
statutory target dates, and the Planning Committees can concentrate on the most 
contentious and significant proposals. 

 
What applications are dealt with by an officer under delegated powers? 

 
Most planning related applications are dealt with under delegated powers and it is the 
intention of the Council, in the interests of efficiency and effectiveness, that at least 
95% of applications received are determined under this process. 

 
Authorised officers do not always use their delegated powers; consideration is given 
to issues raised by local members and parish councils, in order that decisions of 
wider public interest are taken at the Planning Committee. 

 
Applications will be dealt with under delegated powers unless: 

 
• A Local Member writes, or emails a request for a particular application to be 

considered by Planning Committee and sound planning reasons have been 
provided setting out why committee consideration is necessary and the 
request is accepted by the Chairman of Planning Committee in consultation 
with designated officers. The request should be made within 21 days of the 
date of registration of the application, or within 14 days of receipt of any 
subsequent significant amendment to a current proposal. 

• An application is made by an elected Member or an officer of the Council, or a 
household member of either of such persons, and representations objecting 
to the application have been received (delegation is still permitted if the 
application is refused); 

• If approved, the matter would represent a significant departure from the 
approved policies of the Council (officer delegation is still permitted if the 
departure from policy would not conflict substantially with the aims and 
objectives of the policy or the application is to be refused). For these 
purposes significant departures are defined as a development which requires 
referral to the Secretary of State;  

• Any ‘Major’ or ‘Minor’ application relating to the Council’s own land or 
development where representations have been received against the proposal; 

• The application is for the demolition of a listed building or a Building of Local 
Interest or 

• The application is one that in the opinion of officers, in consultation with the 
Chairman and Vice-Chairman, should be determined by Committee because 
of special planning policy considerations. 

Page 37



Page 38

This page is left blank intentionally.



 

 

 

 

 

 
 
  
Report To: Planning Portfolio Holder 8 September 2015 
Lead Officer: Director - New Communities & Planning   

 
 

 
Development Management Implications of the Lack of a Five Year Supply of Housing 

Land in South Cambridgeshire 
 
Purpose 

 
1. To inform and update Members on recent advice received regarding the Council’s 

response on planning applications where a lack of a five year supply of housing land 
is a material consideration. 
 
Recommendations 

 
2. It is recommended that the Portfolio Holder endorses the approach set out in this 

report. 
 
Considerations 
 

3. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) introduced the requirement for local 
planning authorities to ‘identify and update annually a supply of specific deliverable 
sites sufficient to provide five years worth of housing against their housing 
requirements with an additional buffer of 5% ’. ( 20% where there has been a record 
of persistent under delivery).  This quickly led to a number of successful appeals 
where the requirement for a 5 year land supply was the critical issue. Locally, the 
successful appeal last September at Cody Road, Waterbeach, highlighted the need 
for the Council to address the development management implications of cases where 
the Council’s current lack of a five year supply of housing land was a significant 
consideration. 
 

4. At the 9 July 2015 portfolio holder meeting, a report was received on the ‘South 
Cambridgeshire Local Plan – Response to Inspector’s Letter’, in which it was noted 
that independent advice had been received and further advice commissioned on 
managing planning applications whilst the Council could not demonstrate a five year 
housing land supply. 
 

5. Officers had already put under review all enquiries for such development and their 
potential infrastructure impacts and providing support to villages and parishes 
considering starting or already advanced in a Neighbourhood Plan. Planning 
obligations for such schemes were also being reviewed and updated. 
 

6. These measures were in addition to seeking clarification from the Local Plan 
Examination planning inspectors as to the principle of relying on a joint housing 
trajectory of the Council with Cambridge City and asking them to issue a report upon 
this. At the time of writing, a reply is still awaited. 
 

7. The Planning Officers Society, an association representing chief planning officers, 
was also requested to advise upon more detailed and technical aspects of report 
preparation in such cases.  

Agenda Item 5

Page 39



 
8. The advice received was based upon an expert review of the management of five 

recent planning applications. Confidential comments were provided for each case, 
which will be taken into account in the preparation of reports and appeal statements. 
Set out below are the findings of the review. 
 
Assessing Planning Applications in the absence of a 5 year housing land 
supply 

 
9. Applications can be divided into 3 basic categories: 

 
10. Where an application can be recommended for approval on the basis that complies 

with the development plan and the NPPF, and there are no relevant material 
considerations which indicate otherwise. 
 

11. Where the principle of housing development is acceptable but there are other factors 
which are material and which must be balanced against the lack of a 5 year supply. 
Relevant factors may include e.g. detailed design or policy requirements e.g. 
affordable housing.  The balancing of considerations in such cases can be difficult 
and complex as the lack of supply has been afforded considerable weight at appeal. 
It is important that the factors involved and the balanced judgement are clearly 
expressed in advising the decision maker, whether it is a delegated or Committee 
decision. 
 

12. Where the principle of housing development is not in accordance with the 
development plan and/or NPPF. This does not automatically mean that the 
application will be refused, as the Stroud case illustrates, but the issues are normally 
much clearer and easier to express. The relevant arguments e.g. where an 
application is in the Green Belt, AONB, Flood Risk area will still need to be 
considered and the case made that the impact of the proposal overrides the lack of 
supply. 
 

13. Applications will not always fall clearly into one of these categories but it is 
considered that classifying them in this way at the outset will provide a useful ‘triage’ 
process to assist in the preparation of reports.  
 
Review of Case Reports 

 
14. For the most part the reports reviewed were thorough and consider all the relevant 

factors. There were cases where the most significant issues were not perhaps 
expressed as forcefully as they could be. In the Council’s present circumstances the 
balance of argument is usually whether the presumption in favour in the absence of a 
5 year supply is outweighed by the harm caused by other considerations. These 
considerations should be highlighted at an early stage, whereas other issues which 
can be mitigated through condition or planning obligation are of lesser significance. If 
this distinction is buried in the depths of the report it is sometimes not as readily 
obvious to the reader as it could be. Officers may want to consider how best to 
ensure that the critical issues are highlighted. 
 

15. The inclusion of an executive summary is very helpful as these can be used to flag up 
the major issues including the lack of a 5 year land supply and what other 
considerations need to be weighed against the resulting presumption in favour of 
sustainable development. Some of the executive summaries explain this very clearly, 
in others it was less apparent 
 

Page 40



16. Most of the reports have a section titled ‘Planning Comments’ where the planning 
issues and arguments are set out and considered. Planning comments suggests that 
these are only comments and therefore of equal significance to any other comment. 
This section should be re-titled ‘Planning Appraisal’ which better describes the role of 
the planning officers in taking account of all of the factors involved, appraising them 
and giving them appropriate weight within a balanced conclusion. 
 

17. The quality of reports is very important, (particularly where an appeal is a possible 
outcome) but the presentation of the issues to members at Committee, the 
opportunity for officers to respond and to comment and the use of briefings to ensure 
members questions are fully explored are equally important in ensuring members 
come to a well informed decision. 
 

18. The application of the statutory tests for planning obligations and the 5 obligation 
pooling restrictions were inconsistent and in some instances a misinterpretation of the 
position. 
 
Comments on specific questions raised  
 

19. Has the Council presented the argument and consideration of the under supply in 
each case in a reasonable manner? 
 

20. Each of the cases reviewed established early in the report that the question of the 5 
year supply was a major issue and explained that this led to a presumption in favour 
of sustainable development unless there were other factors of sufficient importance to 
outweigh the presumption. Whist this can become very repetitive it is important that 
each case stands on its own and the reports set out the position.  
 

21. Are there more specific issues of deliverability that officers should be including? 
Should a detailed programme for example, from the applicant be included? 
 

22. Authorities should recognise that developers will always say that they are in a 
position to deliver housing development expeditiously. While it is good practice to get 
developers to provide a delivery statement which should include the pre-
commencement stages – obtaining possession securing funding, appointing 
contractors, completing details and so on, they will build at the rate that suits them 
and the market. They will only build what they think they can sell and it is unusual for 
a single developer to build at more than 20 units a year on an individual site. 
 

23. In assessing material considerations that could be set against the weight of a 5 year 
under supply, have officers generally got the balance right? 
 

24. Generally speaking the reports highlight the significant issues which should be 
weighed against the 5 year supply. Conservation, village character, landscape, 
ecology are the type of considerations which can weigh against developments which 
are outside the out dated planning policies, because these are the types of factors 
which lead to the sites not being allocated for development in the first instance. 
Clearly the authority cannot rely on its LDF policies in relation to land supply but it 
should be exploring in particular the environmental and services issues which may lie 
behind those policies. The reports reviewed were clear on the weight to be given to 
highways and transportation, which in spite of local reaction rarely are sufficient to 
refuse development.  
 

Page 41



Officer response to the advice 
 

25. The advice is welcomed in confirming the correctness of the general approach 
adopted by officers, both individually and as a team, to cases involving the 5 year 
undersupply of housing land. Specific actions for improvement, particularly the need 
to clarify in reports the method of appraisal by planning officers, are being put into 
place. This will involve tightening up on the preparation and checking of reports. The 
inconsistency on planning obligations arose from two of the reports being drafted 
soon after the implementation date of CIL regulations in April this year, but additional 
training is being arranged on this and other aspects of S106 and the use of planning 
obligations and conditions. 
 

26. Members may wish to reflect upon whether, in these cases, there is more briefing or 
information they would wish to receive from officers in making fully informed 
decisions.  

 
Risks 
 

27. Key risks have been addressed in receiving this advice and relate to procedural 
matters:  
(a) The quality of reports and presentations to Planning Committee and 
(b) Achieving reasonable Member decisions that are robust to challenge. 

 
28. There are no specific financial risks arising from this report, although the advice 

received should minimise the risk of costs awards from appeals. 
 
Options 

 
29. The advice received has either been verbally delivered, or fully incorporated into this 

report. As the advice relates wholly to matters of planning procedure and reporting, 
there are no particular options to consider. 
 

 
Background Papers 
  
Report to 9 July 2015 portfolio holder meeting - ‘South Cambridgeshire Local Plan – 
Response to Inspector’s Letter’ 
 
Report Author:  Tony Pierce – Development Control Manager (interim) 

Telephone: (01954) 713165 

Page 42



Updated: 28 August 2015 

Planning Portfolio Holder – Work Programme 2015-16 
 
 
Date of meeting 
 
Democratic 
Services deadline  

Title of Report 
 

Key or Non-Key? Reason Key 
Specify no(s) 
listed below 

Purpose of 
Report, ie For 
Recommendation 
/ Decision / 
Monitoring 

Lead Officer / 
Report Author 

Date added to 
Corporate 
Forward Plan 
(contact: Maggie 
Jennings 

To be scheduled 
 
 

Local Plan issues      

To be scheduled 
 

Service Plan      

To be scheduled 
 

Towards a 
Paperless Planning 
Service 

   Tony Pierce  

To be scheduled 
 

Affordable Housing 
Supplementary 
Planning 
Document – 
Consultation– 
Timing will depend 
on examination  
 

Key  Decision Jo Mills / David 
Roberts 

10 September 
2014 

A
genda Item

 6

P
age 43



Updated: 28 August 2015 

October 2015  
 
To be confirmed 

      

10 November 2015 
 
DS Deadline 
5pm – Fri 30 Oct 

Pre-application 
Advice Service – 
Review 

Key  Monitoring / 
Decision 

Jane Green / John 
Koch 

 

 
Key Decisions 
 
1. it is likely to result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to the Council’s budget for the 
 service or function to which the decision relates, or 
 
2. it is likely to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area of the District comprising two or more wards. 
 In determining the meaning of `significant’ for the purposes of the above, the Council must have regard to any guidance for the time being issued by the 
 Secretary of State in accordance with section 9Q of the 2000 Act (guidance)). 
 

P
age 44


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of Previous meeting
	3 Implications of the Withdrawal of the Code for Sustainable Homes on the Fen Drayton Former Land Settlement Association Estate
	Appendix A - Fen Drayton former LSA estate - Council Policy

	4 Consultation on Draft Amendments to the Delegated Powers and Functions for Planning Decisions
	Appendix A - Consultation on a proposed delegation of planning decisions in South Cambridgeshire

	5 Development Management Implications of the Lack of a Five Year Supply of Housing Land in South Cambridgeshire
	6 Work Programme

